CASE NO. S269099 (CONSOLIDATED WITH S271493)

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY,
CALIFORNIA-AMERICAN WATER COMPANY,
CALIFORNIA WATER SERVICE COMPANY,
LIBERTY UTILITIES CORP.
AND CALIFORNIA WATER ASSOCIATION
Petitioners,

v

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA *Respondent*.

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decisions Nos. 20-08-047 and 21-09-047

Of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California

*Joseph M. Karp (SBN: 142851)
Christine A. Kolosov (SBN: 266546)
Robert J. Stumpf, Jr. (SBN: 72851)
John D. Ellis (SBN: 269221)
SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER
& HAMPTON LLP
Four Embarcadero Center, 17th floor

ISSUES PRESENTED

The Petitions for writ of review and the answer of the California Public Utilities Commission present the following issues:

- 1. Whether the Commission may revoke two previously approved water conservation ratemaking mechanisms without first identifying the continued use of those mechanisms as an issue in the scoping memo for the proceeding, to the prejudice of the parties;
- 2. Whether the Commission complied with statutory and constitutional requirements for notice and hearing when it first disclosed through the issuance of a proposed decision, after the record had closed, that it was considering the continued use of two previously approved water conservation ratemaking mechanisms as part of such proceeding;
- 3. Whether the Commission may revoke two previously approved water conservation ratemaking mechanisms in a quasi-legislative proceeding, thereby denying the Petitioners due process rights available only in ratesetting proceedings;
- 4. Whether the Commission may revoke two previously approved water conservation ratemaking mechanisms in reliance on a single piece of record evidence, without affording parties any opportunity to refute that evidence; and
- 5. Whether the Commission may revoke two previously approved water conservation ratemaking mechanisms without assessing the economic effects of its order on low-income or any other customers.

The Petitioners and the Commission phrased the foregoing issues in varied language. Therefore, Appendix A hereto quotes the issues as presented in each Petition and in the Commission's answer.

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioners¹ seek judicial review of Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047 (Decisions) with regard to one order in D.20-08-047. That order unlawfully prohibits the WRAM Utilities from continuing to use two ratemaking mechanisms referred to as the Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (WRAM) and Modified Cost Balancing Account (MCBA) that are critical elements of the tiered rate designs that those utilities use to promote water conservation (Volume 1 of Joint Appendices (1JA) at 109 (Ordering Paragraph #3) (Revocation Order)).

The Commission (1) violated section 1701.1(c) of the California Public Utilities Code² and its own Rule 7.3³ by issuing the Revocation Order without first identifying the continued use of the WRAM/MCBA as an issue under consideration in the underlying proceeding, to the prejudice of the parties, (2) violated section 1708, section 1708.5, and the United States and California Constitutions by issuing the Revocation Order without providing the Petitioner Utilities notice and an opportunity to be heard, (3) violated section 1701.1, subdivision (d), and its own Rule 1.3 by issuing the Revocation Order, a ratesetting decision, in a quasi-legislative proceeding (ignoring the statutory distinction between the two types of

¹ The Petitioners are California-American Water Company (Cal-Am), California Water Service Company (Cal Water), Golden State Water Company (Golden State), Liberty Utilities (Park Water) Corp. and Liberty Utilities (Apple Valley Ranchos Water) Corp. (collectively, Liberty), and the California Water Association (CWA). Cal-Am, Cal Water, Golden State and Liberty are referred to herein collectively as the "Petitioner Utilities" and as the "WRAM Utilities."

² Unless otherwise stated, all statutory references are to the California Public Utilities Code.

³ References to "Rules" are to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

proceedings), (4) failed to regularly pursue its authority by issuing the Revocation Order in reliance on a single piece of record evidence, without affording parties any opportunity to refute that evidence, and (5) violated section 321.1, subdivision (a), by issuing the Revocation Order without assessing the economic effects of the revocation on low-income or any other customers.

These are violations of the procedural statutes and rules that help ensure that the Commission makes informed, evidence-based decisions and formulates sound public policy. The Commission's violation of the Petitioners' due process rights denied them an opportunity to present evidence that would have demonstrated the peril that the Revocation Order poses both to California's water conservation objectives and to low-income water customers.

For all of these reasons and as established below, the Court should vacate the Revocation Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY Background and Purpose of the WRAM/MCBA

Since 2008, with drought conditions recurring across California, the WRAM Utilities have used two regulatory mechanisms approved by the Commission that encourage water conservation by decoupling utility revenues from the amount of water sold—the WRAM and the MCBA. These ratemaking mechanisms address a conflict that can arise between two important policy objectives: (1) if water sales are lower than anticipated, protecting a utility against falling short of the revenue required to provide safe and reliable service to customers and a fair return on investment to utility shareholders, and (2) promoting water conservation (i.e., reducing water sales to customers).

The WRAM tracks under- or over-collections in utility revenues due to fluctuations in actual water sales to customers as compared with the forecasted water sales used by the Commission in setting customer rates. The MCBA tracks savings or increases in water supply operating costs against forecasted amounts that the Commission used in setting customer rates. The WRAM and MCBA amounts are netted against each other so that reduced utility revenues from lower sales to customers are offset by associated cost savings. The result of that calculation is recovered through a surcharge on customer bills for an under-collection or returned to customers via a surcredit for an over-collection. By "decoupling" revenues from the quantity of water sold, the WRAM/MCBA removes a disincentive for the WRAM Utilities to encourage conservation by their customers. California gas and electric utilities have long used similar revenue decoupling mechanisms to promote energy conservation.⁴

The use of the WRAM/MCBA arose from the Commission's Investigation 07-01-022, begun in 2007 to address policies to achieve water conservation objectives for Class A⁵ water utilities. In their Petitions, several WRAM Utilities included detailed histories regarding how the Commission approved their WRAM and MCBA mechanisms and repeatedly affirmed their continued use after rigorous, evidence-based review. (1JA at 152-153, 157-159, 162-165 [discussing at 164, ¶ 22 that in

⁴ (See, e.g., *Matter of Cal. Energy Efficiency Strategic Plan* Cal. P.U.C., Sept. 18, 2008, D.08-09-040, 2008 Cal. PUC LEXIS 417, *37-38 ["Over the years, successive CPUC decisions have created a policy framework to motivate [investor-owned utilities] to develop and continuously expand energy efficiency . . . including . . . decoupling of sales from revenues for electric and gas utilities. . . . "].)

⁵ "Class A" is the Commission's designation for water utilities subject to its regulation that have 10,000 or more service connections.

Golden State's 2012 general rate case,⁶ the Commission held evidentiary hearings solely addressing the WRAM].)

In December 2016, just seven months before commencement of the proceeding in which the Commission issued the Revocation Order, the Commission issued Decision 16-12-026, which approved continued use of the WRAM/MCBA by all the WRAM Utilities. (D.16-12-026, 2016 Cal. PUC LEXIS 682, **62-64.) The Commission issued that decision after soliciting detailed input concerning the WRAM/MCBA. Specifically, nine of 16 questions posed in the statutorily required scoping memo⁷ for that prior rulemaking related directly to whether the WRAM Utilities should continue to use the WRAM/MCBA. (1JA at 193-196.)

Scoping of LIRA I

In July 2017, an Order Instituting Rulemaking (OIR) commenced LIRA I.⁸ Per that OIR, the Commission would evaluate "the Commission's 2010 Water Action Plan objective of achieving consistency between the Class A water utilities' low-income rate assistance (LIRA) programs, providing rate assistance to all low-income customers of investor-owned

⁶ General rate case (GRC) proceedings address the costs of operating and maintaining a utility's system and the allocation of those costs among customer classes.

⁷ Subsection (c) of section 1701.1 and Rule 7.3 require that for each proceeding at the Commission, the assigned Commissioner issue either an order or a ruling that describes the issues to be considered during the proceeding. (§ 1701.1(c); Rule 7.3.)

⁸ "LIRA I" refers to Phase I of Rulemaking 17-06-024, Order Instituting Rulemaking Evaluating the Commission's 2010 Water Action Plan Objective of Achieving Consistency between Class A Water Utilities' Low-Income Rate Assistance Programs, Providing Rate Assistance to All Low – Income Customers of Investor-Owned Water Utilities, and Affordability.

water utilities, affordability, and sales forecasting." (1JA at 204.) The Original Scoping Memo, 9 established the issues to be considered in LIRA I:

- 1. Consolidation of at-risk water systems by regulated water utilities [....]¹⁰
- 2. Forecasting Water Sales
- a. How should the Commission address forecasts of sales in a manner that avoids regressive rates that adversely impact particularly low-income or moderate income customers?
- b. In Decision (D.)16-12-026, adopted in Rulemaking
 11-11-008, the Commission addressed the importance of
 forecasting sales and therefore revenues. The
 Commission, in D.16-12-026, directed Class A and B
 water utilities to propose improved forecast
 methodologies in their GRC application. However,
 given the significant length of time between Class A
 water utility GRC filings, and the potential for different
 forecasting methodologies proposals in individual
 GRCs, the Commission will examine how to improve
 water sales forecasting as part of this phase of the
 proceeding. What guidelines or mechanisms can the

⁹ The Commission issued three scoping memos prior to the issuance of Decision 20-08-047: (i) the original scoping memo issued on January 9, 2018 (Original Scoping Memo), (ii) the first amended scoping memo issued on July 9, 2018 (Amended Scoping Memo), and (iii) the second amended scoping memo issued on June 2, 2020 for a subsequent phase of the rulemaking addressing issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The first two scoping memos are referred to herein as the "Scoping Memos."

¹⁰ Text of the two-sub-issues under item 1 omitted.

- Commission put in place to improve or standardize water sales forecasting for Class A water utilities?
- 3. What regulatory changes should the Commission consider to lower rates and improve access to safe quality drinking water for disadvantaged communities?
- 4. What, if any, regulatory changes should the Commission consider that would ensure and/or improve the health and safety of regulated water systems?

(1JA at 208-209.)

The Original Scoping Memo confirmed the OIR's categorization of LIRA I as a quasi-legislative proceeding. (1JA at 210.)

The Amended Scoping Memo added two issues to LIRA I:

- 1. How best to consider potential changes in rate design such that there is a basic amount of water that customers receive at a low quantity rate; and
- 2. Whether the Commission should adopt criteria to allow for sharing of low-income customer data by regulated investor-owned energy utilities with municipal water utilities.

(1JA at 227.)

Post-Scoping Memo Treatment of the WRAM/MCBA in LIRA I

Neither Scoping Memo mentioned the WRAM/MCBA, revenue decoupling or anything remotely related thereto. Notwithstanding the absence of any reference to the WRAM/MCBA in the Scoping Memos, the Commission's Public Advocates Office (PAO) attempted to insert the continued use of the WRAM/MCBA into the proceeding via comments filed two years after LIRA I's commencement. PAO did so after the

SMRH:4878-1034-8324

-14
OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), prior to the final workshop to be held in LIRA I, issued a ruling that solicited comments on questions relating to water sales forecasting. Although that ruling included no questions on the WRAM/MCBA (1JA at 244-245), PAO submitted comments recommending that the Commission order conversion of WRAMs to Monterey-style WRAMs (M-WRAMs)¹¹ and then explore eliminating any and all decoupling mechanisms. (1JA at 252.)

CWA filed reply comments on behalf of its members (including the Petitioner Utilities) objecting to PAO's proposal. (1JA at 263.) CWA stressed that PAO's "arguments regarding WRAMs and other decoupling mechanisms go well beyond the scope of the question asked and are therefore outside the scope of issues appropriate for these comments and the upcoming workshop." (1JA at 269.) CWA described PAO's proposal to convert existing WRAMs to M-WRAMs during LIRA I as "a procedurally improper method for seeking to modify several final Commission Decisions." (1JA at 263.) CWA urged that "[i]f the Commission chooses to re-open consideration of the merits of these established mechanisms for the utilities previously authorized to employ them, the Commission must carefully evaluate the arguments relating to these WRAMs, review the specific circumstances of each utility, and provide a fair opportunity for each utility to respond." (1JA at 269.)

The August 2019 workshop addressed the Low Income Rate
Assistance Program, drought forecasting mechanisms, and consolidation of
small water systems. (Volume 2 of Joint Appendices (2JA) at 281.) The

¹¹ The M-WRAM is not a revenue decoupling mechanism like the WRAM. It is a revenue adjustment mechanism permitting a water utility to true-up revenue recovered under tiered quantity rates (intended to encourage conservation) with revenue that the utility would have collected by a uniform quantity rate. (2JA at 443, fn. 97.)

Commission staff report issued after the workshop did not mention elimination of the WRAM/MCBA. But the ALJ's final ruling, in September 2019, sought comment on the following questions:

For utilities with a full Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (WRAM)/Modified Cost Balancing Account (MCBA), should the Commission consider converting to Monterey-style WRAM with an incremental cost balancing account? Should this consideration occur in the context of each utility's GRC?

(2JA at 275 (Question #6).)

In CWA's response to this question, CWA explained that the M-WRAM with an incremental cost balancing account (M-WRAM/ICBA) does not fulfill the same purpose as the full WRAM/MCBA and reiterated that these mechanisms have nothing to do with providing assistance to low-income customers and fall outside the scope of LIRA I.¹² (2JA at 465-467.) PAO's response to this question asserted the superiority of M-WRAMs over WRAMs, but included no evidence supporting its position. (2JA at 484.)

CWA submitted reply comments objecting to PAO's recommendation to convert WRAMs to M-WRAMs, calling the proposal "a step backwards that eliminates the benefits that full WRAMs offer in contrast to [M-WRAMs]." (2JA at 487.) PAO also submitted reply

¹² As an association that includes both water utilities that rely on the WRAM/MCBA and others that do not, CWA takes no position on the merits of the WRAM/MCBA in relation to other ratemaking mechanisms, but is concerned primarily about the flawed procedures followed by the Commission as addressed in this joint opening brief.

comments, which included a graph that, according to PAO, showed that the M-WRAM was as effective in promoting conservation as the WRAM. (2JA at 493.) The WRAM Utilities concluded that PAO's submission was deeply flawed and misleading for reasons subsequently set forth in their comments on the Proposed Decision. (2JA at 508-509; Volume 3 of Joint Appendices (3JA) at 537-539, 554-557, 569-570.) Because PAO submitted its graph in the final set of reply comments before the assigned Commissioner issued her Proposed Decision, however, neither CWA nor any other party had an opportunity to provide comments responding to PAO's graph or its asserted conclusion.

Other than PAO's graph, there is nothing in the record of LIRA I purporting to address the effectiveness of the WRAM for promoting conservation. Further, although the Commission discusses WRAM dollar balances of the Petitioner Utilities as purported support for the Revocation Order, the LIRA I record lacks any information regarding current WRAM dollar balances. Instead, the Commission relies on stale (and effectively irrelevant) references to 10-year-old old WRAM dollar balances from a past proceeding. (1JA at 64, fn. 42, citing to D.12-04-048. 13)

Issuance of the Proposed Decision and the Decision

In July 2020, the assigned Commissioner issued her Proposed
Decision for LIRA I. (3JA at 579.) Whereas the ALJ's final ruling had
asked whether the Commission "should consider" converting
WRAM/MCBAs to M-WRAM/ICBAs and whether this consideration
should occur "in the context of each utility's GRC," the Proposed Decision
summarily ordered the WRAM Utilities to abandon their WRAMs/MCBAs

¹³ Decision 12-04-048 relied on WRAM balance data from 2010-2012, as noted in Golden State's comments on the Proposed Decision. (3JA at 558 (citing to D.12-04-048 at Appendices B and C).)

and, if they so choose, to propose using M-WRAMs/ICBAs, in their next GRC applications. (3JA at 580 (Ordering Paragraph #3).) Only then, *three years* after the OIR, and *after the LIRA I record was closed*, ¹⁴ did the Commission first disclose an intention to order revocation of the WRAM/MCBA during LIRA I.

In late July and early August 2020, the WRAM Utilities filed comments and reply comments on the Proposed Decision demonstrating that (1) none of the OIR, the Original Scoping Memo or the Amended Scoping Memo identified water conservation mechanisms or modifications to or abandonment of the WRAM/MCBA as issues to be considered in LIRA I, (2) before the assigned Commissioner issued her Proposed Decision, the WRAM Utilities had no notice that the continued use of the WRAM/MCBA was under consideration in LIRA I, and (3) nothing in the record assessed the economic effects of revocation on low-income or any other customers. (2JA at 497-523; 3JA at 526-577, 583-616.)

On August 26, 2020, the assigned Commissioner revised her Proposed Decision to add language contending that continued use of the WRAM fell within the ambit of the "Forecasting Water Sales" item in the Original Scoping Memo. (3JA at 620-622.) The next day, the Commission issued the final Decision that included the Revocation Order prohibiting the WRAM Utilities from proposing to continue their existing WRAM/MCBAs in future GRCs, as follows:

California-American Water Company, California Water Service Company, Golden State Water

¹⁴ The Commission's Rules prescribe that "[a] proceeding shall stand submitted for decision by the Commission after the taking of evidence, the filing of briefs, and the presentation of oral argument as may have been prescribed." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 20, § 13.15, subd. (a).) Thus, the evidentiary record is closed prior to issuance of a proposed decision.

Company, Liberty Utilities (Park Water) Corporation, and Liberty Utilities (Apple Valley Ranchos Water)
Corporation, in their next general rate case applications, shall not propose continuing existing
Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms/Modified
Cost Balancing Accounts but may propose to use
Monterey-Style Water Revenue Adjustment
Mechanisms and Incremental Cost Balancing
Accounts.

(1JA at 109 (Ordering Paragraph #3).)

Applications for Rehearing and Denial of Rehearing

Each Petitioner filed a timely application for rehearing of the Decision on numerous grounds, including that the Commission (1) violated statutory and constitutional due process rights of the WRAM Utilities by failing to provide adequate notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard concerning the Revocation Order (Volume 4 of Joint Appendices (4JA) at 650-655, 686-690, 694-697), (2) failed to comply with the Public Utilities Code and its own rules concerning the scope of issues to be considered in LIRA I (4JA at 634-646, 713-716), (3) failed to consider all facts that might bear on its exercise of discretion (4JA at 673-676, 718-731), (4) failed to provide sufficient support for eliminating the WRAM/MCBA (4JA at 730-737), (5) mischaracterized LIRA I as a quasi-legislative proceeding rather than as ratesetting, thereby denying parties procedural rights available only in ratesetting proceedings (4JA at 659-664), and (6) abused its discretion by issuing the Revocation Order without adequate evidentiary support, failing to allow an opportunity for parties to present contrary evidence, and failing to assess the economic effects of the Revocation Order on low-income or

any other customers as required by subdivision (a) of section 321.1 (4JA at 697-705).

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