#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Golden State Water Company Petitioner,	
v.	Case No. S269099
Public Utilities Commission of the State of California, Respondent,	Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047
California-American Water Company, California Water Service Company, California Water Association, and Liberty Utilities Corp., Petitioners,	Case No. S271493 Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047
v.	
Public Utilities Commission of the State of California,	
Respondent.	

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHRISTINE HAMMOND, SBN 206768 DALE HOLZSCHUH, SBN 124673 \*DARLENE M. CLARK, SBN 172812

Attorneys for Respondent California Public Utilities Commission

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

#### **III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In this case, Petitioners, certain Class A water utilities,<sup>6</sup> challenge a Commission policy determination reached in a quasilegislative proceeding. The Commission determined that a pilot program balancing account mechanism, WRAM/MCBA, applied to certain Class A water utilities, is not serving its purpose and should be discontinued.<sup>7</sup> Without basis, Petitioners contend that they were denied due process and that the underlying proceeding had procedural deficiencies.

Petitioners' arguments misconstrue the nature of the Commission proceeding, which is a rulemaking as opposed to a ratesetting proceeding. They also mischaracterize their own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Class A water utilities are those water utilities with more than 10,000 service connections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Commission regulates more than 100 investor-owned water utilities. Five of the nine Class A water utilities were authorized to implement this accounting mechanism.

failure to offer evidence, or otherwise participate in review of the accounting mechanism issue, as a due process failing on the part of the Commission. In fact, it was Petitioners' own decision not to provide substantive input after the September 2019 ALJ Ruling invited parties to do so, that brings us to this Court.

Petitioners fail to demonstrate any error in the Commission's conduct or holding, or any other basis, for this Court to grant relief.

The above notwithstanding, this case is moot because Petitioners have achieved through legislation, the very remedy it seeks from this court. The Court should dismiss the case as moot because it can provide no effective remedy.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. The Court should dismiss the case as moot.

The Petitions should be dismissed because the California Legislature has enacted legislation that renders moot the relevant issue in the petitions, such that it is impossible for the Court to grant Petitioners any effective relief. In the alternative, should any residual matters remain, the Court should change its grant of review to denial as the issuance of the writ of review was based on pre-Senate Bill 1469 facts. (Sen. Bill No. 1469, approved by Governor, Sept. 30, 2022 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) §2 (SB 1469) (Exhibit A, attached to Motion to Dismiss).) In light of this subsequent legislation, any residual or academic issues are of no import.

#### 1. Senate Bill 1469 renders moot the relevant order in Decision 20-08-047.

On September 30, 2022, Governor Gavin Newsom signed SB 1469, legislation that supersedes the Commission's discontinuance of the WRAM/MCBA pilot program in D.20-08-047. Effective

January 1, 2023,<sup>§</sup> SB 1469 modifies Public Utilities Code Section 727.5 to insert language that requires the Commission to consider applications of Class A water companies to implement decoupling mechanisms, such as the WRAM,<sup>§</sup> which are the subject of the instant case before the Court:

> (2) (A) Upon application by a water corporation with more than 10,000 service connections, the commission shall consider, and may authorize, the implementation of a mechanism that separates the water corporation's revenues and its water sales, commonly referred to as a "decoupling mechanism."

(Sen. Bill No. 1469, approved by Governor, Sept. 30, 2022 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) §2.)

In their Petitions, Petitioners raise multiple issues, all of which ultimately challenge the Commission's order that the WRAM/MCBA utilities "in their next general rate case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> None of the WRAM Utilities are scheduled to file their general rate case applications in the time period between Governor Newsom's signing the bill and its effective date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See section A.2.b., for discussion regarding omission of MCBA from SB 1469.

applications, shall not propose continuing existing Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms/Modified Cost Balancing Accounts . . . ." (Decision, p. 106, Ordering Paragraph #3 [Golden State Appx. 383].) For example, Golden State seeks a single remedy in its amended Petition: "Enter judgment setting aside the Decision insofar as it prohibits the WRAM Utilities from proposing continuation of the WRAM/MCBA in future general rate cases." (Golden State Amended Petition, p. 14.) Likewise, Cal Water's prayer for relief requests that the Court "[e]nter judgment setting aside the Decision insofar as it prohibits CWS and the other WRAM Utilities from proposing the continuation of their existing WRAM/MCBA in future General Rate Cases." (Cal Water Petition, p. 14.) The remaining three Petitions contain almost identical requests.

(Cal-Am Petition, pp. 14-15; Liberty Petition, p. 13; CWA Petition, pp. 12-13.)

Likewise, Petitioners are clear in their joint brief that they seek judicial review of just one order in D.20-08-047, Ordering Paragraph #3:

> The Petitioners seek judicial review of Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047 (Decisions) with regard to one order in D.20-08-047. That order unlawfully prohibits the WRAM Utilities from continuing to use two ratemaking mechanisms referred to as the [WRAM/MCBA] that are critical elements of the tiered rate designs that those utilities use to promote water conservation [Ordering Paragraph #3 of D.20-08-047].

(Petitioners' Brief, p. 9, fn. omitted, emphasis added.)

Because SB 1469 has superseded that ordering paragraph, this case is moot. There is no need to continue this case. Petitioners have already achieved through the legislature the singular remedy they sought through this Court.

#### 2. The Petitions should be dismissed because the Court cannot grant effective relief.

Well-settled law holds that an appeal is moot if events occur while the appeal is pending, which render it impossible for the appellate court to grant appellant any effective relief. (*Newsom v. Superior Court* (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 1099, 1109-1110, citing *La Mirada Avenue Neighborhood Assn. of Hollywood v. City of Los Angeles* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 586, 590 (*La Mirada*).) Subsequent legislation is one type of event that can render a pending appeal moot. (*Ibid.*; see also *Equi v. San Francisco* (1936) 13 Cal.App.2d 140,141–142 (*Equi*).) "It is well settled that an appellate court will decide only actual controversies. [A]n action which originally was based upon a justiciable controversy cannot be maintained on appeal if the questions raised therein have become moot by subsequent acts or events." (*La Mirada, supra*, 2 Cal.App.5th, p. 590.)

Here, it would make no difference if the Court were to conclude the Commission improperly discontinued its authority for water companies to apply for WRAM/MCBA because SB 1469, and its changes to section 727.5, supersede Ordering Paragraph #3. As a result of SB 1469, the water companies are now authorized to file for WRAM protection in their future general

rate case applications and the Commission must consider that request. In other words, the Court is unable to provide effective relief, therefore the appeal of that issue is moot. (*Id.*)

The effective relief limitation is applicable even where other issues remain in the case. In Equi, after declaring the case moot based on one issue, the court held that the remaining question of whether appellants "had the power to impose such a license tax for revenue have become abstract, academic and dead issues which no longer present any actual controversy between the parties. It therefore appears that the only issues presented by this appeal have become moot and that 'the appeal should not be entertained solely for the purpose of entering an academic discussion of the legal questions presented.' [Citations.]" (Equi, supra, 13 Cal.App.2d, p. 142.) As in Equi, even if some WRAM discussion remains in the Decision, any Court review of that discussion is now entirely academic because SB 1469 requires the Commission to "consider" utilities' WRAM proposals anew. Because their remedy has been granted, any arguments the Petitioners may have about residual holdings are entirely academic.

> a) Without a stay of D.20-08-047, Petitioners' relief is limited.

Petitioners claim that the new legislation does not restore them to their position before the Commission issued D.20-08-047 and that only action by the Court can do that. (Petitioners' Opposition, p. 12.) This claim is incorrect. First, Petitioners cite no authority that authorizes them to be in their original position or the Court to act retroactively. Further, if they wanted to prevent the implementation of the orders in the Decision, they would have had to seek a stay of those orders from the Commission or the Court. (Pub. Util. Code, §§ 1761-1762.) They did not.

Pursuant to the Public Utilities Code, the Court cannot take any action that would refund the rates the Commission has set in Petitioners' rate case proceedings:

> If a commission order or decision authorizing any increase or decrease in rates, or changing any rate classification, is set aside by the Supreme Court or court of appeal, the matter shall be referred back to the commission for further action consistent with the order of the court. The commission, in taking this further action, shall not authorize refunds, and any relief ordered by the commission that shall have the effect of increasing or decreasing rates shall be prospective only.

(Pub. Util. Code, § 1766, subd. (b).) If the Court were to set aside any part of the Decision and send it back to the Commission, the Commission may consider new rates prospectively only, in response to the Court order. (*Ibid.*) Consistent with this statute, the only remedy the Court could provide is to order the Commission to permit the utilities to file applications for prospective rates that include requests for WRAM/MCBAs. Due to the briefing schedule, this could not happen until after the new year. At that time, SB 1469 would be effective and Petitioners would have the right to petition the Commission for WRAM/MCBAs, as mentioned above, (as Cal-Am already has), so the matter would be moot. The Court could not provide effective relief that the legislation had not already provided.

#### b) Petitioners' claim that SB 1469 does not grant them full relief is disingenuous.

Petitioners argue that the new legislation does not expressly codify a right for Petitioners to request an MCBA. (Petitioners' Opposition, p. 9.) While this statement is true, their implication that any harm would result from that omission is disingenuous.

When the Commission first authorized the pilot program for the utilities to implement both the WRAM and the MBCA mechanisms, it described the purpose of each mechanism:

> The goals for both CalWater's and Park's WRAMs and MCBAs are to sever the relationship between sales and revenue to remove the disincentive to implement conservation rates and conservation programs, to ensure cost savings are passed on to ratepayers, and to reduce overall water consumption.

(D.08-02-036, pp.25-26.) As Petitioners' Opposition explains, the WRAM tracks the revenues and the MCBA tracks the costs. Petitioners further explain that "[t]he WRAM and MCBA amounts are netted against each other so that the revenues lost as a result of lower sales may be offset by associated cost savings." (Petitioners' Opposition, p. 9.) D.08-02-036 explicitly states that the MCBA is designed to "ensure cost savings are passed on to ratepayers."

(D.08-02-036, pp.25-26.) Therefore, there is no reason the Commission would approve WRAMs in the future, but refuse to allow Petitioners to request a MCBA. In fact, the Commission likely would *require* it.

Notably, Petitioners initiated legislation that only required the Commission to consider a mechanism to decouple revenues to protect their profits, but omitted from that legislation, the mechanism to ensure cost savings are passed on to ratepayers. Petitioners now attempt to use the omission they created to convince the Court that they would suffer harm because the legislation did not provide full relief.

Petitioners further argue that a Court ruling finding the Decision unlawful would "provide a tangible benefit should [Cal Water and Liberty] seek to restore the use of their WRAM and MCBA mechanisms before their next triennial GRC filings . . .." (Petitioners' Opposition, p. 15.) However, as discussed above, such Court-ordered relief is moot because Petitioners already have the right to file a petition for modification of their GRC decisions to include WRAM/MBCAs as a result of SB 1469 (Cal. Code of Regs., tit. 20, § 16.4) or file an Advice Letter requesting authorization for a WCMA. (Decision, p. 74.) Both Liberty utilities have filed such Advice Letters and the Commission has approved them. (Exhibits A and B, attached to *Respondent's Motion for Judicial Notice*, filed November 15, 2022.)

Finally, Petitioners claim that the legislation does not grant them full relief because the findings and conclusions in the Decision may prejudice them in the future. They speculate that other parties or the Commission may rely on those findings and conclusions in future proceedings to the detriment of Petitioners.

Based on this speculation they argue this case is not moot because the court can vacate the order to prevent this potential prejudice in future cases. (Petitioners' Opposition, p. 15-19.)

As discussed above, in *Equi*, after declaring the case moot based on one issue, the court held that the remaining questions had become "abstract, academic and dead issues which no longer present any actual controversy between the parties. It therefore appears that the only issues presented by this appeal have become moot and that 'the appeal should not be entertained solely for the purpose of entering an academic discussion of the legal questions presented.' [Citations.]" (*Equi*, *supra*, 13 Cal.App.2d, p. 142.) Here, the holdings are of even less import because Commission holdings do not have precedential effect and are not binding on future Commissions, as discussed below. The actual controversy in this case has been addressed by SB 1469 and the case is now moot.

#### c) The exceptions to the rules regarding mootness are inapplicable.

The rules regarding mootness, discussed above, are not absolute; a court may exercise its discretion to hear a matter even if moot. There are three circumstances in which the courts may continue a case or action that would otherwise be moot: 1) when a material question remains for the court's determination; 2) when the case presents an issue of broad public interest that is likely to recur; and 3) when there may be a recurrence of the controversy between the parties.

(*Harris v. Stampolis* (2016) 248 Cal.App.4th 484, 495.) Here, none of those exceptions apply.

As discussed above, no material question remains. The singular issue in this case is whether the Commission improperly discontinued its authorization for the water utilities to include WRAM/MCBA in their general rate case applications. With the new legislation reinstating that authorization, no controversy between the parties remains for the Court to decide. (*Equi*, *supra*, 13 Cal.App.2d, p. 142.) Moreover, this controversy is not likely to recur as Petitioners' rights have been codified and the Commission must comply with Public Utilities Code section 727.5.

Likewise, the case does not present a matter of broad public interest that is likely to recur and evade review. This case is a matter relevant only to the Class A water companies – whether the Commission improperly discontinued the WRAM Utilities' ability to seek authorization for their WRAM/MCBAs, which is too fact specific to be of broad public interest. (*Building a Better Redondo, Inc. v. City of Redondo Beach* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 852, 867 ["[T]his case presents fact-specific issues that are unlikely to recur and thus does not justify our exercise of discretion to resolve moot questions."].)

Petitioners claim the Court should find the remaining procedural issues are matters of broad public importance. (Petitioners' Opposition, pp. 21-22.) However, what remains are only particular procedural allegations regarding the process that led to the WRAM/MCBA discontinuation, which is now

superseded. Any remaining abstract or academic procedural issues are not matters of broad public importance.

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